THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

AUG 23 2017

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Circuit

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Thomas Russo, Circuit Court Judge

CASE NO. 2011-CP-10-05774
APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-001632

PAVILION DEVELOPMENT CORP. & LARRY MCNAIR.....Appellants,

v.

NEXSEN PRUET, LLC..... Respondent,

AND

DC & SONS, LLC.....Counterclaim Defendant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Andrew K. Epting, Jr.
Jaan G. Rannik
Michelle N. Endemann, *Special Counsel*
46A State Street, Charleston, SC 29401
Phone: 843-377-1871; Fax: 843-377-1310
ake@epting-law.com
jgr@epting-law.com
mne@epting-law.com

GEORGE J. KEFALOS, PA

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the lower court erred in interpreting the Supreme Court's order dated September 3, 2015 in which the Supreme Court states that Appellants' motion to amend their complaint "should be addressed by the trial court in the first instance"?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of the lower court's order dated June 29, 2016 denying Appellants' motion to amend their complaint and or substitute parties pursuant to Rules 15 and 17 SCRCPC. However, the order and the circumstances in which it was entered are not typical as the lower court held that Appellants are "absolutely entitled" to amend their complaint pursuant to the rules of civil procedure, but the court stated it was unable to grant the amendment because of its interpretation of the Supreme Court's order dated September 3, 2015. (R. p. 41 line 14 - p. 42 line 2). Accordingly, the sole issue on appeal concerns the interpretation of the Supreme Court's order dated September 3, 2015 in which the Supreme Court states that Appellants' motion to amend their complaint "should be addressed by the trial court in the first instance." (R. pp. 82-83). In other words, the lower court would have allowed the amendment but for its interpretation that this Court's order prevented it from doing so.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This is a legal malpractice action filed on August 16, 2011. (R. p. 231). The action was filed after the settlement of the underlying case brought against Pavilion Development Corp. ("Pavilion") and Larry McNair by DC & Sons, LLC. Pavilion and McNair were represented by Nexsen Pruet in the underlying litigation.

1. The Underlying Litigation (Case No. 2007-CP-10-1457)

On August 11, 2006, Pavilion Development Corp. ("Pavilion"), represented by Nexsen

Pruet, entered into a contract with DC & Sons to purchase real property on Shem Creek for \$5,000,000.00. Pavilion deposited \$50,000.00 with its escrow agent as an earnest money deposit. Prior to the closing, Nexsen Pruet raised a question about DC & Sons' ability to deliver good and marketable title because Nexsen Pruet argued a claim asserted by a third party created an encumbrance. DC & Sons explained that the supposed claim was utterly without merit, there was no encumbrance on the property, and that DC & Sons was capable of delivering good and marketable title and offered to provide title insurance. DC & Sons insisted that Pavilion either close or release DC & Sons from the contract so that DC & Sons could sell it to an alternate buyer. Pavilion refused. Instead, Nexsen Pruet, on behalf of Pavilion, sued DC & Sons for specific performance and to quiet title and filed a maintained a *lis pendens* on the property (the "underlying litigation"). These actions formed the basis of the abuse of process judgment that ultimately gave rise to this legal malpractice action.

The *lis pendens* was removed by order of Judge Young. (R. p. 375-379). Judge Young's order effectively ended Pavilion's claim against DC & Sons, but not DC & Sons' counterclaim as DC & Sons lost its alternate buyer and a \$5,000,000.00 sale.

The trial of the counterclaim of DC & Sons against Pavilion was to commence on January 18, 2011. Before the trial commenced, DC & Sons had asked, and Judge Young allowed, DC & Sons to renew its motion for summary judgment as to. Judge Young allowed rehearing and granted DC & Sons motion. (See R. pp. 354-368). In his January 18, 2011 order Judge Young, in part, held:

DC & Sons' motion is hereby granted as: (1) Larry McNair and his counsel concede the *lis pendens* was filed for the ulterior purpose of obtaining a lower purchase price and a return of the escrow funds; and (2) I find as a matter of law that the filing of the *lis pendens* was an act in the use of the process not proper in the regular conduct of the proceeding.

(R. p. 346).

...

As cited above, the Court finds McNair and his previous counsel were using the lawsuit and the *lis pendens* to compel a better purchase price and a return of the earnest money deposit. This is not a legitimate use of a *lis pendens*, but is rather a form of coercion, done in the course of negotiation. (R. p. 351).

2. *The Underlying Settlement*

After Judge Young entered the order granting DC & Sons summary judgment as to liability, a recess was taken and the parties negotiated a settlement. The parties returned to put the settlement on the record. The agreement reached was that Mr. McNair and Mr. Frazier (the principals of Pavilion) would be released individually and DC & Sons would waive its right to punitive damages against Pavilion if Pavilion would confess judgment to DC & Sons for actual damages and agree to assign certain of the proceeds of any suit against Nexsen Pruet for legal malpractice to DC & Sons (R. p. 369).¹ The settlement documents, including the handwritten assignment and confession of judgment, were handed up to Judge Young, and the Judge asked counsel for DC & Sons to explain how the settlement figure was reached. (R. pp. 369-373).

Judge Young then stated:

THE COURT: All right. Well, I have, needless to say, not as much time and energy invested In this case as y'all. Needless to say, this is something I have lived with the past couple of years as well, so I'm very familiar with the facts and what has given rise to the damages, and I think it is a fair resolution of the dispute between these parties, and so I will approve the settlement and we will enter it on the record accordingly, and I want to thank you very much for working it out.

Judge Young entered a form Order concluding the case and attached the handwritten

¹ The Settlement also included that the legal malpractice claim itself could be assigned to DC & Sons at DC & Sons' election.

settlement to his Order. (R. pp. 325-330).

3. *The Case Sub Judice – The Legal Malpractice Action Against Nexsen Pruet*

As contemplated by the underlying settlement agreement, a legal malpractice action was filed against Nexsen Pruet by its former clients Larry McNair and Pavilion. However, Nexsen Pruet moved for summary judgment on the ground that the malpractice action was proceeding pursuant to an assignment of a legal malpractice claim that was void as against public policy. On October 9, 2013, the lower court agreed and granted summary judgment in favor of Nexsen Pruet. In addition to granting Nexsen Pruet's motion, the lower court dismissed the case with prejudice. Pavilion and McNair appealed.

4. *The First Appeal as to the Legality of the Assignment*

On appeal, the case was transferred to the Supreme Court of South Carolina pursuant to Rule 204(b) SCACR as the issue of the validity of the assignment of legal malpractice actions was a novel issue in South Carolina and the Supreme Court was already considering the issue in the case of *Skipper v. ACE Prop. & Cos. Ins. Co.*, Op. No. 27547 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed July 15, 2015). Following oral argument, the Supreme Court affirmed on the ground that the assignment of a legal malpractice claim between adversaries in litigation in which the alleged malpractice arose is prohibited, but modified Judge Nicholson's order to be a dismissal without prejudice. (See R. pp. 80-81). Assuming that Nexsen Pruet would petition the Court for rehearing, Pavilion and McNair waited until the time to petition expired, and when no petition was filed, filed its motion in the Supreme Court requesting a reasonable time to amend their complaint pursuant to *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 628 S.E.2d 869 (2006) as the statute of limitations ran during the appeal. (R. pp. 71-74). The Supreme Court did not grant the motion,

instead stating “the motion should be addressed by the trial court in the first instance.” (R. pp. 82-83).

5. The Motion to Amend the Legal Malpractice Complaint

Pursuant to the Supreme Court’s instruction, Pavilion and McNair refiled their motion to amend in the lower court. (R. pp. 77-79). Nexsen Pruet opposed the motion, claiming no amendment could be allowed because the case was dismissed without prejudice. (R. pp. 108-120). The motion was initially set before the Judge that had granted Nexsen Pruet summary judgment, The Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr.; however, Judge Nicholson recused himself before ruling. (R. pp. 64-68). A second hearing was scheduled before the Honorable Thomas Russo, and Judge Russo found that Pavilion and McNair are “absolutely entitled” to amend their complaint pursuant to the rules of civil procedure, but he was unable to grant the amendment because of his interpretation of the Supreme Court’s order dated September 3, 2015. (R. p. 41 line 14 - p. 42 line 2).

6. The Current Appeal

Pavilion and McNair timely appealed. Nexsen Pruet moved to dismiss the appeal, and the motion to dismiss was denied by the Court of Appeals on January 27, 2017. Nexsen Pruet also moved to transfer this appeal to the Supreme Court pursuant to Rule 204(b) SCACR. Appellants Pavilion and McNair consented to the motion, and it was granted by this Court on February 9, 2017.

ARGUMENT

1. Standard of Review

The lower court’s interpretation of the Supreme Court’s order presents a legal question. The Supreme Court may make its own ruling on a question of law without deferring to the

circuit court. *Henderson v. Summerville Ford-Mercury Inc.*, 748 S.E.2d 221 (S.C. 2013). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. *Ex parte TLC Laser Eye Centers (Piedmont/Atlanta), LLC*, 745 S.E.2d 105 (S.C. 2013).

2. *The Lower Court Erred in its Interpretation of this Court's Orders*

The lower court's order is not simply an order denying a motion to amend a complaint – Judge Russo actually held that Pavilion and McNair would be entitled to the amendment under the rules of civil procedure. (R. p. 41 line 14 - p. 42 line 2). Rather, the order is one that interprets the Supreme Court's September 3, 2015 order in such a way that concludes the entire case and prevents a judgment from being entered on the legal malpractice claim. In its September 3, 2015 order, the Supreme Court held "the motion [to amend] should be addressed by the trial court in the first instance." (R. pp. 82-83). The lower court held that it was constrained by the Supreme Court's dismissal without prejudice, and therefore, could not grant the motion to amend the complaint. The lower court reasoned:

THE COURT: Let me stop you there. If it wasn't a situation that I've got to deal with where I've got a court who affirmed a summary judgement, which, as we all know, ends the case, and I'm being asked to ignore that and to allow the case to go forward and grant the amendment, but for that, you're absolutely right. I don't even think we're here. I don't think they're going to oppose your Rule 15 motion. You're absolutely entitled to it. That's not it's not that simple. It's not that easy, as you know. So you are entitled to Rule 15, but for all this other stuff you have here.

(R. p. 41 line 14 - p. 42 line 2).

However, the lower court's interpretation fails to take into consideration the significance of the Supreme Court's modification of the dismissal of the complaint from one with prejudice to one without prejudice (R. pp. 80-81) as well as the significance of the Court's instruction that the motion to amend should be addressed by the trial court.

Implicit in the Supreme Court's modification to a dismissal without prejudice is that Plaintiffs/Appellants would have a reasonable time to amend their complaint. *See, e.g., Dockside Ass'n, Inc. v. Detyens, Simmons & Carlisle*, 297 S.C. 91, 374 S.E.2d 907 (Ct. App. 1988) (plaintiff generally is allowed to amend a complaint to correct deficiencies which resulted in dismissal without prejudice); *Collins v. Sigmon*, 299 S.C. 464, 467, 385 S.E.2d 835, 837 (1989)(Dismissal of a case “without prejudice” means a plaintiff may reassert her complaint by curing defects that led to the dismissal. In contrast, dismissal of a complaint “with prejudice” is intended to bar relitigation of the same claim). The plaintiff in most cases should be given an opportunity to file and serve an amended complaint. *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 128, 628 S.E.2d 869, 880 (2006)(citations omitted). In *Spence*, the Supreme Court contemplated a scenario very similar to the one present in this case. The *Spence* Court held:

When a plaintiff is not given the opportunity to file and serve an amended complaint, but is left with no choice but to appeal after dismissal of her case with prejudice, an appellate court which affirms the dismissal may modify the lower court's order to find the dismissal is without prejudice. When the statute of limitations has expired, the appellate court may in its discretion impose a reasonable period of time in which to amend the complaint. An appellate court should follow this procedure when the plaintiff presents additional factual allegations or a different theory of recovery which, taken as true in a well-pleaded complaint, may state a claim upon which relief may be granted.

Spence v. Spence, 368 S.C. 106, 131. In the case *sub judice*, the Supreme Court affirmed the lower court with regard to the issue of the assignability of legal malpractice claims, but modified the dismissal to one without prejudice. (R. pp. 80-81). Pursuant to *Spence*, Pavilion and McNair moved before the Supreme Court to be allowed a reasonable time to amend their complaint. The Supreme Court instructed that “the motion should be addressed by the trial court in the first instance.” (R. pp. 82-83). At the March 30, 2016 hearing before Judge Nicholson, the lower

court agreed with Appellants' interpretation of the September 3, 2015.² Nexsen Pruet claims that the only way to read the September 3, 2015 order is that the Court intended that a new action be filed. However, a motion to amend would not need to be addressed to the lower court before a new action could be filed, a new action would simply be filed. Thus, Nexsen Pruet's interpretation renders the Supreme Court's instruction meaningless. The law favors construction that does not render language meaningless. *See, e.g. Tempel v. S.C. State Election Commn.*, 735 S.E.2d 453, 455 (S.C. 2012), *Hays v. Adair*, 227 S.E.2d 665, 667 (S.C. 1976), *Habersham A., LLC v. Firststar Homes, Inc.*, 2012-UP-459, 2012 WL 10862469, at *1 (S.C. App. July 25, 2012).

CONCLUSION

This case, above many others, is an example of the wisdom and fairness of the precedent allowing the amendment of a complaint to correct deficiencies that resulted in a dismissal without prejudice. Failing to grant the amendment under the circumstances present in this case abrogates Pavilion and McNair's right to bring their valid legal malpractice claim, constitutes manifest injustice, and is contrary to the holding in *Spence* for the following reasons:

- (1) Independent of the assignment, Pavilion and McNair's legal malpractice claim, taken as true in a well-plead complaint, states a claim upon which relief may be granted;³

² THE COURT: I think Mr. Epting is right as far as his interpretation, okay? (R. p. 57 lines 2-3)

³ While this Court dismissed the action without prejudice, the action was in fact brought by Larry McNair and Pavilion who had a claim separate and apart from what was assigned to DC & Sons. The relief to be afforded if an assignment was deemed invalid was a subject of briefing in the first appeal.