RECEIVED

AUG 17 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-001632
Case No. 2011-CP-10-5774

Pavilion Development Corp. & Larry McNair, Appellants,

v.

Nexsen Pruet, LLC, Respondent,

v.

DC & Sons, LLC, Counterclaim Defendant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Elizabeth Van Doren Gray (S.C. Bar No. 2434)
Tina Cundari (S.C. Bar No. 71951)
Benjamin R. Gooding (S.C. Bar No. 100620)
SOWELL GRAY ROBINSON STEPP &
LAFFITTE, LLC
1310 Gadsden Street
Post Office Box 11449
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 929-1400
egray@sowellgray.com

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court order denying the motion to amend the complaint or to substitute parties should be affirmed. The circuit court correctly determined that this Court’s August 12, 2015 opinion ended the case, and that to allow Appellants to amend the complaint would be contrary to this Court’s opinion dismissing the case without prejudice.

The circuit court’s order should be affirmed for additional reasons, including that the motion to amend the complaint was not a true motion to amend but rather an attempt to circumvent this Court’s opinion. Moreover, the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure do not permit parties to continue cases post-appeal by filing a motion in the circuit court seeking the same relief sought and denied on appeal.

For these reasons, the circuit court’s order denying the motion to amend the complaint or to substitute parties should be affirmed.

I. The circuit court correctly denied the motion to amend the complaint and/or substitute parties given this Court’s opinion affirming summary judgment and modifying the dismissal to be without prejudice.

The circuit court’s order should be affirmed because the circuit court correctly determined that the Supreme Court’s opinion affirming summary judgment and modifying the dismissal to be without prejudice ended the case.

By definition, a dismissal is the “[t]ermination of an action or claim *without further hearing*, esp[ecially] before the trial of the issue involved.” *Dismissal*, BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY (9th ed. 2009) (emphasis added). A dismissal without prejudice is “[a] dismissal that does not bar the plaintiff from *refiling the lawsuit* within the applicable limitations period.” *Id.* (emphasis added). According to case law, a dismissal without prejudice is “when . . . the plaintiff is given the opportunity to *file and serve* an amended complaint.” *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 130, 628 S.E.2d 869, 881 (2006) (emphasis added). When a complaint has been dismissed without prejudice, a plaintiff “may *reassert* her complaint by curing defects that led to the dismissal.” *Id.* at 128, 628 S.E.2d at 880-81 (emphasis added).

When an appellate court affirms the dismissal of a case but modifies the ruling to be without prejudice and the statute of limitations has subsequently expired, “the appellate court may in its discretion impose a reasonable period of time in which to amend the complaint.” *Id.* at 130, 628 S.E.2d at 881. “An appellate court should follow this procedure when the plaintiff presents additional factual allegations or a different theory of recovery which, taken as true in a well-pleaded complaint, may state a claim upon which relief may be granted.” *Id.* at 130, 628 S.E.2d at 881-82.

Here, the Supreme Court did not grant Appellants a reasonable period of time to amend their complaint, nor did the Court remand the case for further proceedings. Instead, the Supreme Court affirmed summary judgment and modified the dismissal to be without prejudice. A

dismissal without prejudice is a dismissal. It means that the case as filed is over. It does not mean that the case may be continued by simply filing a motion to amend the complaint.

The issue of whether the case should be dismissed with or without prejudice, or remanded for further proceedings was squarely before this Court on appeal. In their opening brief and on reply, Appellants argued they were concerned about the impact of a dismissal without prejudice because it would “result in Nexsen Pruet claiming the statute of limitations has run” (R. pp. 178, 230). These same concerns were reiterated at oral argument. *See* Video of May 6, 2015 oral argument, *available at* <http://media.sccourts.org/videos/2013-002796.mp4>, beginning at 35:32 (“One thing that I’m hoping the Court is sensitive to, is in this case, a dismissal without prejudice is a dismissal with prejudice because then we’ll go back to be met with the statute of limitations has run.”).

After hearing these concerns, the Court held that the proper remedy was dismissal without prejudice. The Court did not remand the case for further proceedings, nor did the Court grant leave to amend the complaint, even though it was within the Court’s discretion to do so.

Contrary to what Appellants contend, *Spence* does not contemplate the procedure Appellants are advocating for here, of allowing a party to file a motion to amend a complaint in the *circuit court* after the case has been decided on appeal. Under *Spence*, the *appellate court* grants the relief requested as part of the appeal. Here, Appellants raised the issue regarding the impact of a dismissal without prejudice, but this Court did not impose a reasonable period of time for Appellants to amend the complaint.

On appeal, Appellants simply wanted the Court to permit the case to proceed as filed. The problem with this, as explained during the first appeal, is that Nexsen Pruet (and the court) has no way of knowing that Appellants are proceeding as the real parties in interest. Appellants

are still represented by the same counsel that represented DC & Sons and have not done anything (such as file an affidavit) showing they have suffered damages and want to proceed with this case as a genuine legal malpractice action.²

This is why courts in other jurisdictions have required parties who re-file a case after an assignment has been stricken to show that the assignment is no longer in place and that they are the real parties in interest, and they must do so represented by new counsel who is not associated with the assignee. *See, e.g., Edens Technologies, LLC v. Kile Goekjian Reed & McManus, PLLC*, 675 F. Supp. 2d 75, 86 (D.D.C. 2009) (finding that if the client re-files the malpractice claim, the case must not be controlled in any way by the assignee and that the client *must not be represented by attorneys associated with the assignee*); *Davis v. Scott*, 320 S.W.3d 87, 92 (Ky. 2010) (finding that the client could reassert his claim against the attorney “only upon showing that the attempted assignment is no longer in place and that he is the real party in interest”). The rationale behind this requirement is that the malpractice action cannot simply proceed as pled because it is “tainted in some respect.” *Davis*, 320 S.W.2d at 92.

Appellants are not like the plaintiffs in *Spence* whose hands were tied because of the dismissal. Appellants have had several opportunities throughout the course of this case to avoid the situation in which they now find themselves. At any point during this case, Appellants could have chosen to proceed independent of the assignment. Appellants have been on notice since

² It is difficult to understand why Appellants would even pursue this case as the real parties in interest, given that Larry McNair obtained a full release as part of the settlement in the case below, and Pavilion Development Corp., an entity that was created for the purpose of purchasing a piece of property that was never purchased, is “probably insolvent” and is therefore judgment proof. *See* video of May 6, 2015 oral argument, <http://media.sccourts.org/videos/2013-002796.mp4>, beginning at 9:33 (in which counsel for Appellants states “because you’re right judge, Pavilion is probably insolvent”).

Nexsen Pruet filed its answer to the complaint that Nexsen Pruet challenged the legality of the assignment. (R. p. 265).

Instead of filing a new case independent of the assignment, Appellants allowed their adversary, DC & Sons, to pursue this case all the way up to the South Carolina Supreme Court, when not a single court in the country permitted the assignment of a legal malpractice claim between adversaries in litigation in exchange for a confession of judgment.³

Here, the circuit court did what it was required to do, which was to abide by this Court's opinion. It is well-settled that circuit courts must abide by the decisions of this Court. *See Milton P. Demetre Family Ltd. P'ship v. Beckmann*, 413 S.C. 38, 52, 773 S.E.2d 596, 604 (Ct. App. 2014) ("The mandate of the appellate court is jurisdictional. The trial court has a duty to follow the appellate court's directions."); *S.C. Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Basnight*, 346 S.C. 241, 250-51, 551 S.E.2d 274, 279 (Ct. App. 2001) (noting "[o]nce a mandate is issued from an appellate court to a trial court, the trial court 'is vested with jurisdiction only to the extent conferred by the appellate court's opinion and mandate'" (quoting 5 Am. Jur. 2d *Appellate Review* § 784, at 453 (1995))). The decision of this Court was that the case be dismissed without prejudice. The circuit court could not override that decision by granting leave to amend the complaint, particularly when that very issue was before this Court and this Court did not grant the relief requested.

³ Contrary to what Appellants state in their brief, there is no evidence in the record that Judge Young had the handwritten assignment and the confession of judgment in front of him or examined these documents before he said the settlement in the underlying case was a "fair resolution of the dispute." (R. p. 373). Instead, the transcript reflects that Judge Young relied on counsel for DC & Sons (and now counsel for Appellants) to explain the terms of the settlement to him. (R. pp. 369-370). Counsel did so "from memory," and did not tell the court that the legal malpractice claim and proceeds had been assigned to DC & Sons, and that the assignment gave DC & Sons complete control over the litigation, including the right to elect to own the very claims themselves. (R. p. 369).

Further, the circuit court correctly determined that the last sentence in this Court's September 3, 2015 order stating that the motion "should be addressed by the trial court in the first instance," did not give Appellants leave to amend *in this case*. The circuit court correctly determined that the sentence was not intended to keep this case open because that would be inconsistent with the Court's opinion. The circuit court correctly found that the only way to interpret the sentence so that it is consistent with this Court's opinion is that the issues raised in the motion, such as the expiration of the statute of limitations, should be taken up after the filing of a new case.

In any event, this Court's post-opinion order was not part of the judgment in the case and was not sent down with the remittitur. It was simply a ruling on a post-opinion motion that was late and that raised the same issues that were raised on appeal. The order did not override the Court's August 12, 2015 opinion.

Appellants' contention that they waited until the time to petition for rehearing had expired before filing the motion in the Supreme Court because they "assum[ed] that Nexsen Pruet would petition the Court for rehearing" does not make sense. (Br. of App. p. 4.) Nexsen Pruet had no reason to file a petition for rehearing. Summary judgment had been affirmed, and the case had been dismissed. The Supreme Court awarded Nexsen Pruet costs as the prevailing party. (R. pp. 126-27). Appellants' failure to timely file a petition for rehearing should bar them from getting yet another opportunity to argue the Court should grant leave to amend.

Contrary to what Appellants contend, there is nothing "implicit" in the Supreme Court's modification of the dismissal to without prejudice that gives Appellants the right to amend their complaint. (Br. of App. p. 7.) If that were true, Appellants did not need to file a motion for leave to amend in the Supreme Court after the Supreme Court issued its opinion. Moreover, on

appeal, Appellants urged the Court to be “sensitive to” the impact of a dismissal without prejudice, because Appellants said that “in this case, a dismissal without prejudice is a dismissal with prejudice” Video of May 6, 2015 oral argument at 35:32.

Because this case is over and has been over since August 12, 2015, when this Court issued its opinion affirming summary judgment and modifying the dismissal, the circuit court’s order denying the motion to amend or substitute parties should be affirmed. Appellants should not be permitted to keep a case going that the Supreme Court held should be dismissed. To rule otherwise would be to give new meaning to “dismissal without prejudice.”

For these reasons, the circuit court’s order denying the motion to amend the complaint should be affirmed.

II. Additional reasons exist for affirming the circuit court’s order.

In addition to the reasons stated above, the circuit court’s order should be affirmed because (1) the motion to amend was not a true motion to amend the complaint but rather an attempt to circumvent this Court’s opinion, (2) the procedural rules pursuant to which the motion was filed do not permit the relief requested, and (3) the circuit court’s decision was the just result given the procedural history and posture of this case.⁴

⁴ “[A] respondent . . . may raise . . . any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court’s ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court.” *I’On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000). “The basis for respondent’s additional sustaining grounds must appear in the record on appeal.” *Id.* at 420, 526 S.E.2d at 723. “The appellate court may review respondent’s additional reasons and, if convinced it is proper and fair to do so, rely on them or any other reason appearing in the record to affirm the lower court’s judgment.” *Id.* Here, the additional reasons for dismissing the motion were presented to the circuit court, but the circuit court chose to dismiss the motion based on this Court’s holding in the first appeal.

A. The motion was not a true motion to amend the complaint.

The circuit court's order should be affirmed because the proposed amended complaint was virtually identical to the initial complaint and was an attempt to circumvent this Court's opinion.

Although styled as a motion to amend the complaint, the motion did not seek to make any substantive changes to the original complaint. The proposed amended complaint is virtually identical to the complaint filed in 2011. (R. pp. 84-92, 232-240). The only substantive difference between the two complaints is that the amended complaint does not expressly acknowledge that Larry McNair obtained a full release as part of the settlement in the underlying case. This begs the question as to whether Larry McNair has given up that full release (since the release was given in exchange for the assignment of the malpractice claim), or whether he continues to be without harm.

More importantly, the proposed amended complaint does nothing to cure the taint that has plagued this case since its inception. The proposed amended complaint does not show this is a genuine legal malpractice case brought by Appellants as the real parties in interest. Appellants continue to be represented by the same counsel who filed the initial complaint and who represented Appellants' adversary (DC & Sons) in the case below. Additionally, according to the proposed amended complaint, the confession of judgment is still in place even though the assignment, which was given in exchange for the confession, has been found to be void as against public policy.

By filing this motion, Appellants were trying to keep a case alive that this Court held should be dismissed without prejudice. This is an improper use of Rule 15 and should not be permitted.

Because the motion was not a true motion to amend the complaint and the proposed amended complaint does nothing to cure the taint that has infected this case, the circuit court's order should be affirmed.

B. The procedural rules cited in the motion do not permit the relief requested.

Rule 15

Rule 15 regarding the amendment of pleadings does not permit a party to amend a pleading after summary judgment has been entered and the case has been dismissed without prejudice.

Rule 15 states that a party may amend a pleading by leave of court “when justice so requires and [it] does not prejudice any other party.” Rule 15(a), SCRCP. *See also Parker v. Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer Dist.*, 362 S.C. 276, 286, 607 S.E.2d 711, 716 (2005) (“Leave to amend pleadings pursuant to Rule 15, SCRCP, shall be liberally and freely given when justice so requires and does not prejudice any other party.”). “The party opposing the amendment has the burden of establishing prejudice.” *Id.*

Here, the circuit court correctly recognized that this case did not present the typical Rule 15 scenario. In this case, Appellants were trying to use Rule 15 to continue a case that had been decided on appeal and that had been dismissed without prejudice. Appellants were trying to use the rule to continue a case that they never filed in the first instance. Appellants were trying to take advantage of the liberal standard of Rule 15 to circumvent this Court's holding and to allow the case to continue even though it has been tainted since its inception and the proposed amendments did nothing to cure that taint.

The circuit court did not, as Appellants contend, rule that Appellants were “absolutely entitled” to amend their complaint following remittitur. Instead, the circuit court simply pointed out that while ordinarily a litigant is entitled to leave to amend, this is not the ordinary case. The

complete discussion is as follows:

MR. EPTING: Well, let me ask you this question, Judge. Two cases were tendered to you and I know that you are a busy man, but Rule 15 says that if -- an amendment should be allowed because justice requires it.

THE COURT: Let me stop you right there. **If it wasn't a scenario that I've got to deal with where I've got a court who affirmed summary judgment, which, as we all know, ends the case, and I'm being asked to ignore that and allow the case to go forward and grant the amendment, but for that,** you are absolutely right. I don't even think we're here. I don't think they are going to oppose your Rule 15 motion. You're absolutely entitled to it. That's not -- it's not that simple. It's not that easy, as you know. So you are entitled to Rule 15, **but for all this other stuff you have here.**

(R. p. 41, line 9-p. 42, line 2) (emphasis added). The circuit court correctly recognized that this was not the ordinary Rule 15 scenario; that the state's highest court had affirmed summary judgment and dismissed the case without prejudice; and that the circuit court was bound to follow the Court's decision. This and all the "other stuff" surrounding this case compelled the circuit court to do what was right, which was to deny the motion.

Moreover, Appellants should not be permitted to use Rule 15(c)⁵ to file an amended complaint piggybacking off the filing date of the original complaint when Appellants were not the ones who brought the case in the first instance. As the circuit court found and this Court affirmed, Appellants allowed their adversary, DC & Sons, to bring and control this case.

For these additional reasons, the circuit court's order should be affirmed.

⁵ Rule 15(c) provides that "[w]henver the claim or defense asserted in the amended pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleadings, the amendment relates back to the original pleading."

Rule 17(a)

Additionally, Rule 17(a) governing real parties in interest does not allow for the substitution of parties after summary judgment has been granted and the case has been dismissed.

Rule 17(a) provides that “[e]very action shall be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest.” Rule 17(a), SCRCPP. The rule further provides that:

[n]o action shall be dismissed on the ground that it is not prosecuted in the names of the real party in interest until a reasonable time has been allowed, after objection, for ratification of commencement of the action by, or joinder or substitution of, the real party in interest; and such ratification, joinder, or substitution shall have the same effect as if the action had been commenced in the name of the real party in interest.

Id.

As an initial matter, Rule 17(a) does not provide a procedural mechanism for substitution. Substitution of parties is governed by Rule 25(e), and under that rule, substitution must take place either before or after judgment, or pending appeal, by the appellate court.⁶ In the present case, the time for substitution of parties has passed. The case as filed has been decided.

In any event, the present case was not dismissed pursuant to Rule 17. The case was dismissed because this case was brought pursuant to an assignment of a legal malpractice claim that was void as against public policy and that was entered into under circumstances that suggest collusion or the opportunity for collusion. (R. pp. 178, 230). Since then, nothing has happened to indicate anything has changed. Nowhere in the brief to this Court do Appellants state that they are the real parties in interest and that the assignment has been voided, nor do they say what

⁶ Rule 25(e), SCRCPP provides: “Substitution of parties under the provision of this rule may be made by the trial court either before or after judgment, or pending appeal, by the appellate court.”

happened to the confession of judgment that was given in exchange for the assignment. Appellants continue to be represented by the same counsel that represented DC & Sons in the case below.

Because Rule 17(a) does not apply to the facts of this case, the circuit court's order should be affirmed for this additional reason.

C. The circuit court's decision was the just result.

Even if the rules provided the procedural mechanism for the relief sought here, the circuit court's order should be affirmed because it was the just result.

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